

# **Transformation of Strategic Alliances** in Emerging Markets

# Transformation of Strategic Alliances in Emerging Markets, Volume I

### DESALEGN ABRAHA

University of Skövde, Sweden

### **AKMAL S. HYDER**

University of Gävle, Sweden



Emerald Publishing Limited Howard House, Wagon Lane, Bingley BD16 1WA, UK

First edition 2021

© 2021 by Emerald Publishing Limited

### Reprints and permissions service

Contact: permissions@emeraldinsight.com

No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without either the prior written permission of the publisher or a licence permitting restricted copying issued in the UK by The Copyright Licensing Agency and in the USA by The Copyright Clearance Center. Any opinions expressed in the chapters are those of the authors. Whilst Emerald makes every effort to ensure the quality and accuracy of its content, Emerald makes no representation implied or otherwise, as to the chapters' suitability and application and disclaims any warranties, express or implied, to their use.

### **British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data**

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN: 978-1-80043-745-6 (Print) ISBN: 978-1-80043-744-9 (Online) ISBN: 978-1-80043-746-3 (Epub)



ISOQAR certified Management System, awarded to Emerald for adherence to Environmental standard ISO 14001:2004.





### To the memory of

My parents Ato Abraha Ghebrekidan and Weyzero Jeddah Tesfazghi and my brother Engineer Kubrom Abraha whom I remember for their never ending love and care Desalegn Abraha

My parents Syed Abdul Halim and Salema Begum and my brother Syed Azmal Hyder whom I miss for guidance and inspiration Akmal S. Hyder

# **Table of Contents**

Authors	Xiii
	xv
	xvii
gments	xxi
Part I Introduction and Foundation	
Overview of the Authors' Strategic Alliance Studies	3
The Logic behind the Book	3
The Research Issues	5
The Applied Method	6
Why Eastern and Central Europe?	6
Selection of Countries	6
The Research Approach	7
Development of the Theoretical Framework	7
Case Study as a Research Method	7
Case Selection	8
Data Collection	9
Validity and Reliability of the Data	9
Case Presentation and Analysis	10
The Theoretical Foundation of the Study	11
Motives, Resources, Learning, and Performance	11
The Industrial Network Approach	12
	Overview of the Authors' Strategic Alliance Studies  The Logic behind the Book  The Research Issues  The Applied Method  Why Eastern and Central Europe?  Selection of Countries  The Research Approach  Development of the Theoretical Framework  Case Study as a Research Method  Case Selection  Data Collection  Validity and Reliability of the Data  Case Presentation and Analysis  The Theoretical Foundation of the Study  Motives, Resources, Learning, and Performance

	Discussion and Comparison of the Cases in the Three Groups of Countries	13
	Alliance in the Fast-adapting Countries	13
	Alliances in the Medium-adapting Countries	15
	Alliances in the Slow-adapting Countries	17
	Research Findings and the Literature	19
	Common and Individual Motives	19
	Exchanges of Resources: Expected and Actual Contributions	20
	Learning and Network Development	21
	Performance and Environmental Factors	21
	Conclusions and Implications	21
	Comments on the Theoretical Framework	23
	Research Implications	23
	Updating the Literature Review from 2004 to 2020	24
	The Logic behind the Transformation of Strategic Alliances	25
	References	27
	References	27
Chapter 2	Alliance Transformation in Emerging Markets	31
Chapter 2	Alliance Transformation in Emerging Markets Introduction	
Chapter 2	5 5	31
Chapter 2	Introduction	31 32
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets	31 32 34
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets	31 32 34 37
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies	31 31 32 34 37 39 42
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies	31 32 34 37 39
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions	31 32 34 37 39 42 42
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions Contributions Limitations Disposition	31 32 34 37 39 42 42 43
Chapter 2	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions Contributions Limitations	31 32 34 37 39 42 42 43
Chapter 2  Chapter 3	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions Contributions Limitations Disposition	31 32 34 37 39 42
	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions Contributions Limitations Disposition References	31 32 34 37 39 42 42 43 44 44
	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions Contributions Limitations Disposition References  Strategies in Emerging Markets	31 32 34 37 39 42 42 43 44 44 47
	Introduction Emerging Markets Development Process in Emerging Markets Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies EU Membership and European Transition Economies AIMS and Research Questions Contributions Limitations Disposition References  Strategies in Emerging Markets Background The Definition of a Strategy and Emerging	31 32 34 37 39 42 42 43 44

	·	
	Methods of Entry to International Markets	51
	Developing Marketing Strategy	51
	Porter's Competitive Strategies	51
	Emerging Markets Strategies	53
	Determinants of the Degree of Standardization in Marketing Programs and Processes	53
	Marketing Strategy Alternatives for Eastern and Central Europe	54
	Reinventing Strategies for Emerging Markets	57
	Why Pure Strategies May Be Wrong for Transition Economy Firms	59
	Linking Emerging Markets Characteristics	60
	The Uppsala Model of Internationalization	61
	Summary	62
	References	63
Chanton 1	Part II Theoretical and Methodological Discussion	69
Chapter 4	Institutional Factors in Emerging Markets	
	Introduction Political Factors	69 71
	Financial Institutions	73
	Government Institutions	73 73
	Law and Regulations	7 <i>3</i>
	Infrastructure	75
	Ethical Issues	76
	Cultural Factors	77
	References	78
Chapter 5	The Journey of International Strategic Alliances in	
•	Emerging Markets	81
	Overview of the Chapter	81
	Introduction	82
	Literature Review	84
		0.7
	Conceptual Framework	87
	Chapter Summary	93

Table of Contents ix

# *x* Table of Contents

	Managerial Implications	95
	References	96
Chapter 6	Theoretical Background	101
-	Motives	101
	Resources	103
	Learning	103
	Network	105
	Performance	106
	Institutions and General Environment	107
	Theoretical Framework	108
	References	110
Chapter 7	Research Methods	113
	Introduction	113
	Research Strategy	114
	Why This Topic?	114
	Why Eastern and Central Europe	116
	Selection of Countries	118
	The Research Approach – Strategy	119
	The Research Designs Selected and Applied	121
	Reviewing the Literature	123
	Revising and Restructuring the Research Issues, Problems, and Purpose	124
	The Development of the Theoretical Framework	124
	Case Study as a Research Method	126
	Cases Selection	128
	Data Collection	129
	Preparation and Modification of the Questionnaire	129
	Selection of the Respondents	130
	Execution of Interviews	130
	Comments on the Recorded Interview and Transcribed Information	135
	Validity and Reliability of the Research Findings	136
	Reliability and Validity in Theoretical Perspectives	136

	The Factors Which Affected the Validity and Reliability	137
	Cases Presentation and Analysis	138
	Presentation of the Results	139
	Method Critique	139
	Recommendation for Future Research	140
	References	141
	Part III Categorization of Emerging Markets	
Chapter 8	<b>Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies</b>	145
	Introduction	145
	Social and Political Situation	146
	Cultural Factors	147
	Economic Situation	148
	Classification of Transition Economies	149
	A Short Description of Case Countries	152
	Poland	152
	Hungary	153
	Estonia	154
	Lithuania	155
	References	155
Index		159

# **About the Authors**

Desalegn Abraha received BBA in Management from the University of Addis Ababa in Ethiopia in 1976, MSC in Industrial Marketing from the University of Uppsala in Sweden in 1989, and PhD in International Business from the University of Uppsala in 1994. Currently, Desalegn is Professor Emeritus at the University of Skövde. He has a broad teaching experience and has so far taught courses on international business, international marketing, marketing research, services marketing, internet marketing, digital marketing, and industrial distribution. His research interests deal with foreign market establishments in network contexts, the internationalization of SMEs, strategic alliances in the international market, bank marketing, and the impact of ICT on marketing. He has published two books and about thirty five articles in international scientific journals such as the Journal of International Marketing Research, Industrial Marketing Management, International Business Review, International Journal of Bank Marketing, European Journal of Marketing, Journal of Services Marketing, and International Journal of Strategic Management.

Akmal S. Hyder PhD from the University of Uppsala in 1988 is a professor of Marketing at University of Gävle, Sweden. He has a broad teaching experience and has so far taught courses on international business, emerging markets, international marketing, marketing research, services marketing, and distribution. He has served as a visiting faculty for nearly two years in the North South University of Dhaka, Bangladesh. Dr. Hyder has a keen interest in international students and teacher exchange program and worked as a coordinator at the University of Gävle for several years. He has published two books and a number of articles in international scientific journals such as International Business Review, Scandinavian Journal of Management, Industrial Marketing Management, European Journal of Marketing, Career Development Management, Thunderbird International Business Review, Journal of Services Marketing, and Business and Society Review.

# **Foreword**

This book is published in two volumes titled *Transformation of Strategic Alliances in Emerging Markets, Volume I* and *Transformation of Strategic Alliances in Emerging Markets, Volume II.* Volume I contains eight chapters which are the Overview of the Authors' Strategic Alliances Studies, Alliances Transformation in Emerging Markets, Strategies in Emerging Markets, Institutional factors in Emerging markets, the Journey of Strategic Alliances in Emerging Markets, Theoretical Background, Research Methods, and Emerging Markets: European Transition Economies. Specifically, Volume I defines the research problem, the justification of the research problem, the theoretical framework, the research methods, the strategies, institutional factors, journey of strategic alliances, and the classification of emerging markets.

# **Preface**

The appropriateness and timeliness of publishing this book is beyond doubt as it deals with how the long-term business relationships and networks have changed over time in emerging market alliances. Initially, the alliances were established among Swedish firms and firms in Eastern and Central Europe (ECE). There have been several differences among the alliance partners, i.e., the Swedish and their local partners. Specifically, the Swedish and the local partners have experienced different attitudes, beliefs, ways of thinking, cultures, traditions, ways of conducting business, concept of time, modes of communication, negotiations, etc.

In early 1990s, many Western firms entered into the complexity of ECE, which we introduce in this study as European emerging markets, without having the necessary preparations. Many promising business ideas failed due to lack of knowledge about the ECE emerging markets in regards to social, cultural, political, legal, and human features. It became clear to Western managers that adequate preparation is a prerequisite for success in the region. However, there has been good sign that networks of relationships and competence in dealing with those networks are gradually developed. This study focuses on the changes that have taken place in motives, resource contributions and exchanges, learning, in relationships and networks development, performances, and the general environmental factors within which the alliances function.

Initially, all European transition markets followed the socialist ideology and had almost the same economic structure, but during the last 30 years of transition, things have undergone many changes. Success in adopting market economy and changing policies have created several gaps among these emerging markets. It has therefore become important to know why some countries have done so well, while others fallen behind. This study sees the collaborations as a clear step to reduce the risk of investment by foreign firms and to gradually get accepted by the local governments and the people in the transitional economies. There has been a basic difference in the management style between the Western and Central and Eastern Europe, and therefore issues such as how these dissimilar companies make things go, what result they achieve, and what they really contribute to the development and transformation process are stressed in this book.

Many research works have concentrated on different characteristics of alliances, but surprisingly, no fruitful attempt has yet been made to focus on the dynamic aspect of this form of collaboration. In the case of European emerging markets, this absence is crucial as partners have a totally different background

and consequently have different ways in doing business. In fact, the ECE region is not only different from the Western countries but also from the other developing countries. Development and conducting relevant research to study alliances in these emerging markets has been set as one of the main objectives of this book. To fulfill this goal, a conceptual framework from a process perspective has been designed to describe and analyze the formation, development, and functional mechanism of strategic alliances in the transition region. This conceptual framework has been used in this work to go into depth for capturing fundamental issues, functional patterns, and changes of the alliance activities.

One of the main reasons for alliance formation is exchange of complementary resources among the partners. We argue that no alliance study can be complete and justified unless this vital issue is duly considered. Moreover, commitments of the partners in regards to formation and operation of alliances are vital to the fulfillment of the partners' motives. Exchange of resources has to be defined and understood as a part of a dynamic and ongoing process, which means that things can change from time to time depending on the partners' understanding and the environment in which alliances operate. Partners' learning is essential and important for the alliance operations and performance. Changes in the partners' behavior can be a consequence of learning that takes place in the alliance.

In contrast to Hyder and Abraha (2003), which contains 20 cases, this book consists of 10 cases. Out of the 10 cases, eight are discussed in three phases and two in two phases. The current empirical study analyzes and presents 28 minicases. Compared to the previous book, the current work deals with two categories of countries, namely "fast complete adapting countries," i.e., Poland and Hungary and "medium complete adapting countries," i.e., Estonia and Lithuania.

The foreign partners faced many challenges. The first challenge was the scanty knowledge of the markets and the local partners. The second challenge was the process of transformation from central planning to market economy. The third challenge was the law and regulations to accommodate and support the new kind of business not practiced earlier in the region. The last challenge related to the local culture and the challenge of changing people's attitudes. However, the challenge for the local partners was to adjust to the changes and to quickly get back on track. The first opportunity the foreign firms took advantage of was the early entrance in the market. Their other opportunity concerned access to capable partners with wide distribution networks in the region. The local partners, on the other hand, could learn modern marketing and dealing with better technology to increase their competitiveness.

Environmental and institutional factors have been found to play a substantial role in the formation, organization, operation, and finally dissolution of the alliances in the European emerging markets. The speed of change has been rapid in the fast complete—adapting countries compared to medium complete—adapting countries, which is noticed in the change of ownership structure and increased level of competition. The fast complete adapters have quickly accepted the Western standard and opened their markets for free investment. Many of the foreign firms have expressed their satisfaction over

the changes and see virtually no difference in these countries compared to many countries in the West in doing business.

Vital changes came in relation to regulations and business law to ease the business process. The financial institutions became more professional and the foreign firms gradually experienced less difficulty to borrow locally. Things also improved in the Baltic states (medium complete adapters) as more Scandinavian banks operated in this region. This book offers an in-depth knowledge and understanding of the dynamic challenges and opportunities in emerging markets for the academics and the global business actors.

# **Acknowledgments**

We have come in contact with various people in carrying out this challenging task. Our curiosity in emerging markets and involvement in MBA programs motivated us to initiate and write this book. Particularly, it was a tedious job to follow the alliance process from a long-term perspective.

We would like to express special thanks to Professor Jan Johansson from University of Uppsala, who introduced us to the subject of international business. From the University of Skövde, we thank Mikael Wickelgren, head of the School of Business, Peter Wallström and Joachim Samuelsson (head of divisions), and Jan Sedenka for collaboration and support in the research work. Thanks also go to Andrea Castello Diao and Gisela Fernández Rego for collecting data in the later part of the research process. We have received technical support from Natasa Facol, University of Skövde, for which we are thankful.

From the University of Gävle, we received support from many colleagues. Particularly we like to thank Daniella Fjälström for her support and encouragement in the research process. We extend our thanks to Michelle Rydback, Maria Fregidou-Malama, and Nina Daskalova for intellectual and professional support when we needed it. Our special thanks go to Jaana Kurvinen who as the Dean of the business school understood the importance of the work for education and research.

We would also like to express our extreme thanks to the Emerald book Publishing Limited group for their unreserved efforts in the preparation of the final manuscript of our book. Their continuous and clear feedback, comments and guidance in the whole process is beyond imagination. First and foremost we are very grateful to Nick Wolterman the Commissioning Editor of Emerald Publishing who took the initiative and who asked us if we are interested in discussing publishing our book with Emerald. His initiative and efforts were successful as we have managed to prepare the final version of our manuscript in accordance with the Emerald guidelines. We will also like to thank Melisa Close Associate Publisher/ Emerald Publishing/North America, Sally Martin the Editorial Assistant, Business Management & Economics, Virginia Chapman the Publishing Assistant/Emerald Publishing and Mohamed Imrankhan the Assistant Manager – Operations for their unreserved efforts to make the publication of our book successful.

In addition, we are very grateful to the managers of the Swedish firms and the managers of their alliance partner firms in the emerging markets. They offered themselves by being willing to be interviewed for several hours despite their tight schedules and other business engagements. We also wish to thank our family

### xxii Acknowledgments

partners Zayd Tsegai and Anjuman Hyder for their encouragement, patience, and support in our efforts to write this book. Finally, our deepest appreciation goes to our beloved children Bana, Jonathan, Fanus and Zebib Desalegn, and also to Afif, Labib, and Raqiq Hyder.

Desalegn Abraha Akmal S Hyder

# **Part I Introduction and Foundation**

# Chapter 1

# **Overview of the Authors' Strategic Alliance Studies**

### **Abstract**

In this chapter, the authors provide an overview of the results of their research on the subject of strategic alliances until 2001. Specifically, they summarize their findings published in *Strategic Alliances in Eastern and Central Europe* (2003). The authors conducted 20 case studies of Swedish firms involved in strategic alliances with firms in Eastern and Central Europe. This chapter also presents a brief account of the authors' other research on the same phenomenon which resulted in several conference papers and journal articles. The theoretical framework developed and applied in the 2003 book is also briefly presented in this summary chapter. The method applied in writing the book and the justification for applying this specific method are also discussed. Following this, an updated review of the literature of strategic alliances is conducted to discuss the research work covered and the issues examined after 2003. The overview of the authors' strategic alliances studies and the updated review of the literature together highlight the overall logic behind this new book, *Transformation of Strategic Alliances in Eastern and Central Europe*.

# The Logic behind the Book

This introductory chapter summarizes the authors' earlier study, *Strategic Alliances in Eastern and Central Europe*, a book with 11 chapters (Hyder and Abraha, 2003). Chapter 1 discusses the background of the study. Chapter 2 covers the existing literature. Chapter 3 presents the methodological approach. Chapter 4 discusses the general overview of eight Eastern and Central Europe (ECE) countries, while Chapter 5 develops the theoretical (conceptual) framework. Chapters 6, 7, and 8 discuss 20 strategic alliance cases in three groups of ECE countries, i.e., fast-adapting, medium-adapting, and slow-adapting countries. Chapter 9 presents the discussion and comparison of the 20 cases. Chapter 10 compares and contrasts the research findings and the existing knowledge of

strategic alliances in the literature, and the final Chapter 11 covers the conclusions and implications of the study.

Even after the liberalization of the ECE region, it was still difficult for many firms from the West to do business successfully in that region as their knowledge of the structure and functioning mechanisms of those markets was scanty and inadequate. Moreover, knowledge of the macroenvironmental factors, how they are related to each other and change over time, and their impact on those markets was also insufficient, which was an obstacle for firms to conduct business successfully. Consequently, several firms from the West which started to do business hurriedly in the ECE region could not achieve the awaited satisfactory results.

Many of those firms had promising business ideas, yet they failed to develop appropriate market positions and to achieve their motives. Success was taken for granted as the concerned firms assumed that there was a wide variety of opportunities without giving due consideration to the challenges and problems, and how to deal with them. No doubt there were many opportunities and lucrative markets in the region, but there were also constraints and problems that firms had to deal with if they were going to conduct business successfully. Thus, firms had to develop appropriate strategies to deal with the constraints, challenges, and problems they encountered and to make use of and maximize the opportunities to achieve their motives. The above-mentioned firms' failures, market complexities and variations, the need to properly analyze and understand macroenvironmental factors, the need to understand the interrelationships of those factors and their impact, the need to properly understand the challenges, constraints, obstacles, problems, and opportunities, and the need to develop appropriate strategies and mechanisms to operate with success in those markets were some of the main factors behind conducting the study.

Another reason for conducting this study was to develop a dynamic conceptual framework to study alliances as a process over a certain period of time. Researchers such as Ring and Van de Ven (1994), Harrigan (1986), and Hennart (1988) have conducted research both theoretically and empirically and highlighted the dynamic nature and characteristics of alliances. However, none of them has addressed the knowledge gap in the literature to fill the absence of a comprehensive and dynamic theoretical framework that can be applied to examine strategic alliances in a broader, process perspective. The gap is identified by Hyder and Abraha (2003) based on a literature review which found that the existing theoretical frameworks of alliances could be used to study alliances at one point in time only, which does not enable us to get a holistic view of the dynamics of alliances in real-world situations. Two main reasons made Hyder and Abraha's (2003) study an essential and current issue which deserves an in-depth study. The first reason was the lack of a dynamic conceptual framework, which can be applied to examine strategic alliances over a period of time. The second reason was the fact that the ECE region was believed to differ in many aspects from the West and even from the markets in other developing countries which made it reasonable to conclude that it deserved due consideration as an area of study. Moreover, the ECE markets are heterogeneous as there are considerable differences among the various countries' markets and identifying those differences and analyzing their impacts on alliance formation,

operations, and their implications on marketing approaches and strategies was yet another reason to conduct the study.

Following the fall of the Berlin wall, the ECE countries decided to follow the capitalist ideology abandoning socialism. The decision had a tremendous impact on the business and economic policies including the economic path of the ECE countries and resulted in the transformation of the socialist economy to a market economy. The transition had a strong impact on the market structure, its functioning mechanisms, and on the firms' operations and the results that they could achieve. As the ECE countries' degree and pace of adaptation to the EU and the transformation from a socialist to a market economy differed greatly, Hyder and Abraha (2003) categorized the ECE countries into three groups, i.e., the fast-, medium-, and slow-adapting countries. The differences in the degree and pace of adaptation had an impact and the aim of the book was to identify and analyze how the differences in the adaptations of the countries affected the operations and performance of alliances.

Another reason for conducting the study was to assess the changes which took place in those markets, how learning takes place, how the changes impacted alliances' operations, how firms handle the impact of the changes, and whether the firms achieve their objectives or not and how to handle failures if there are any. The other logic behind the book was that in the ECE region the macroenvironmental factors differ from the West and firms need to have a comprehensive knowledge and understanding of those differences and their impact so that they will be able to handle those factors and their impact to achieve success. Thus, the study was expected to deepen and broaden knowledge and understanding of the infrastructural, cultural, social, political, legal, economic, and financial conditions of the ECE. Moreover, the study was also expected to enhance knowledge of developing, maintaining and consolidating relationships with the various actors and how to develop a strong position in the ECE markets, which is also a vital requirement for conducting successful marketing operations in any market whether it is foreign or domestic, developed or underdeveloped, and loosely or tightly structured.

### The Research Issues

In contrast to earlier studies, one of the main assumptions of this study was that if firms in alliances are going to achieve success by fulfilling their obligations, they have to mobilize their network partners in order to acquire complementary skills and resources. Thus, alliance partners' relationships should be understood and analyzed from a process perspective. Considering this fact, the research problems were formulated in a way that alliances can be examined systematically from the early to the final stages of their operations. The research questions addressed in the book are as follows:

• What are the main motives in forming strategic alliances in the ECE markets and to what extent do these motives get realized? Do the motives change over time and if so, why and how?

- How do alliance partners exchange resources and cope with constraints and opportunities? The focus was on the identification and description of critical events.
- How does learning take place in relation to partners' resource contributions and expectations?
- How does the network develop and contribute to individual partners' competitive strength and competence development and also to the overall performance of strategic alliances?
- How does the general environment affect the operations and functioning mechanisms of the alliances and how do the partners deal with its impacts?

# The Applied Method

### Why Eastern and Central Europe?

There were four reasons for the selection of ECE as an area of study. First was the lack of knowledge as to how the ECE markets are structured, function, and how they change over time. Second, the ECE region was shifting from a centrally planned to a market economy and the transition and current situation in the region were believed to affect the market structure and functioning mechanisms of the alliances. Thus, understanding the ECE market structures and their functioning mechanisms including their impact on the alliances' performance was the second reason for selecting the ECE region as the area of study. Third, considerable changes took place in the ECE region and moreover the selected firms had different backgrounds. The differences among the firms' backgrounds and the changes that took place in the region were significant factors that could affect the operations and results of the alliances. It was thus deemed necessary to examine and to find out the obstacles and opportunities created by the changes and the differences in how firms handle the situations and what results they achieve. The fourth reason for the selection of the ECE region was to investigate how Western firms with the various forms of collaboration explore the opportunities in such a huge market.

### Selection of Countries

The starting point was the classification of the eight ECE countries into two categories by Quelch et al. (1991), i.e., those adjusting rapidly to a market economy and those more slow to adjust. The rapid adapters were Hungary, Czechoslovakia, Poland, and East Germany, while the slow adapters were Bulgaria, Romania, Yugoslavia, and the USSR. Considering the changes and developments which took place, Hyder and Abraha (2003) classified the ECE countries into three groups. A group of medium adapters was identified as it became obvious during the course of the study that there were some countries which are slower than the fast adapters while faster than the slow-adapter countries. The other factor that influenced the decision to include a third category was the work of Tietz (1994), which categorized ECE countries into three groups. Hungary, Slovakia, Poland, Slovenia, and the

Czech Republic are classified as fast adapters, the medium adapters are Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Croatia, and the slow-adapter group included Bulgaria, Romania, Albania, Macedonia, Russia, and Serbia. Initially, the aim was to select one alliance from every country. However, the final choice was influenced by the existence of a Swedish firm's alliance in those countries. In the end some countries had to be excluded due to the absence of a strategic alliance. Hungary and Poland from the fast-adapter countries, Lithuania, Estonia, and Croatia from the medium-adapter countries, and Russia and Serbia from the slow-adapter countries were finally selected as areas of study.

### The Research Approach

Relating the research problem and purpose to the characteristics of qualitative and quantitative research it was decided to apply a qualitative approach. The seven characteristic features of qualitative research (see Bryman, 1995) had a major impact on this study of strategic alliances, and their impact can be clearly observed on the research process and the results achieved. Emphasis was made on the interpretation of the information collected to develop a wider knowledge of the phenomenon under consideration. Moreover, focus was also done on the context, i.e., the general environment within which the alliances operate. Environmental factors which impact the alliances were identified and incorporated in the applied conceptual framework.

### Development of the Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework is developed combining four perspectives. The first step was recapitulating the authors' knowledge of alliances, which resulted in a sketch of the preliminary framework and preliminary research problems were developed without reviewing any secondary data. The second step was a literature review to further develop the preliminary research problem and the sketch of the framework. Attempt was made to adapt the preliminary framework and research problem to the existing body of knowledge of "strategic alliances." Next, the preliminary theoretical framework was applied in Hyder and Abraha (1999). It was observed to be a useful tool for collecting and analyzing data. This helped to further develop the preliminary framework and to enrich it with network concepts. The fourth step is the empirical data. The theoretical framework (model) was developed after the empirical data collection, as it was noted that "General Environment" had to be added to the conceptual framework. As a result, the macro-environmental factors which impact the alliances were incorporated into the model.

### Case Study as a Research Method

If the subject (phenomenon) to be studied is complicated and involves interorganizational relationships, the case study is an appropriate research method. In this

study, relationships are developed among the partners and moreover it is complicated for at least three reasons. One, human relationships over national boundaries are in focus. Second, the alliances involved local partners from ECE countries with distinct differences in social, political, entrepreneurial, and cultural backgrounds in comparison to Western firms. The third reason which makes the study complicated is that the theoretical aspects of alliances were under development. The other issue regards the processual approach of the study, i.e., considering relationships over time. Moreover, a case study offers a holistic view and can reveal reasons why certain decisions were made, the process of their implementation and with what results (Chetty, 1997). Considering the problem as well as the purpose, the brief discussion, and the exploratory nature of the research, a qualitative case study method is applied in this study.

The flexibility of the case study method is essential to conduct a study from a process perspective. The researcher does not need to stick to the initial interview questions, but can add follow-up questions depending on the results of the interview to develop further insights into the events and the overall situation. This flexibility also applies to modifying the research design. Flexibility is very helpful in the process perspective as significant events and totally new insights can crop up during the interview and the research process which can then easily be grasped and dealt with.

### Case Selection

The case selection was both challenging and time-consuming. First, it was not easy to identify the Swedish firms that had alliances in the ECE. Moreover, most of the sources contacted had difficulty understanding the concept of strategic alliances. It was sometimes discovered during the interview that a selected firm had no alliances. The authors had to start the firm identification process over again on two or three occasions, which made the research method lengthy and complicated. In the firms' identification process, in the first step the Swedish Export Trade Council (SETC) was contacted which gave us a list of small Swedish firms in the Baltic states. However, it was not easy from the list to know if the firms were fully owned enterprises or had some sort of collaboration. To find out whether the firms had alliances or not the authors contacted each firm and found out that five firms had some sort of collaboration in one of the three Baltic states. These five firms were selected and included in the study.

The second step was to find the addresses of Swedish embassies in the ECE, which was done by contacting the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Upon receipt of the addresses from the Ministry, 15 embassies were contacted to provide us with a list of Swedish firms operating in their respective countries. Seven of the 15 embassies contacted provided us with a list of firms operating in their respective countries. To find out in which form they operated, the firms were asked if they had any form of collaboration in the ECE. From the list provided by the embassies, three firms having alliances were identified, bringing the number of firms suitable for the study to eight.